

DECISION

Fair Work Act 2009 s.185—Enterprise agreement

St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd (AG2017/6305)

ST JOHN AMBULANCE WESTERN AUSTRALIA LTD TRANSPORT OFFICERS ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2017

Ambulance and patient transport

COMMISSIONER HARPER-GREENWELL

MELBOURNE, 5 APRIL 2018

Application for approval of the St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Transport Officers Enterprise Agreement 2017.

- [1] An application has been made for approval of an enterprise agreement known as the *St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Transport Officers Enterprise Agreement 2017* (the Agreement). The application was made pursuant to s.185 of the *Fair Work Act 2009* (the Act). It has been made by St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd. The Agreement is a single enterprise agreement.
- [2] The Applicant has provided written undertakings. A copy of the undertakings is attached in Annexure A. I am satisfied that the undertakings will not cause financial detriment to any employee covered by the Agreement and that the undertakings will not result in substantial changes to the Agreement.
- [3] Subject to the undertakings referred to above, I am satisfied that each of the requirements of ss.186, 187, 188 and 190 as are relevant to this application for approval have been met. The Agreement does not cover all of the employees of the employer, however, taking into account the factors in Section 186(3) and (3A) I am satisfied that the group of employees was fairly chosen.
- [4] United Voice being a bargaining representative for the Agreement, has given notice under s.183 of the Act that it wants the Agreement to cover it. In accordance with s.201(2) I note that the Agreement covers the organisation.

[5] The Agreement was approved on 5 April 2018 and, in accordance with s.54, will operate from 12 April 2018. The nominal expiry date of the Agreement is 30 June 2020.



COMMISSIONER

Printed by authority of the Commonwealth Government Printer

<AE427887 PR601749>

Annexure A

IN THE FAIR WORK COMMISSION

FWC Matter No.: AG2017/6305

Applicant:

St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd

Section 185 - Application for approval of a single enterprise agreement

Undertaking-Section 190

- I, Rene Anderson, Employee Relations Manager for St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd give the following undertakings with respect to the St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Transport Officers Enterprise Agreement 2017 ("the Agreement"):
- I have the authority given to me by St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd to provide this undertaking in relation to the application before the Fair Work Commission.
- St John undertakes to ensure employees will receive redundancy payments no less than what is provided for in Section 119 of the Fair Work Act 2009.
- St John undertakes to ensure that the Personal Leave provided as per clause 26.2 (a) will be no less than that provided for in the NES.
- These undertakings are provided on the basis of issues raised by the Fair Work Commission in the application before the Fair Work Commission.

Signature

Date



Note - this agreement is to be read together with an undertaking given by the employer. The undertaking is taken to be a term of the agreement. A copy of it can be found at the end of the agreement.

ST JOHN AMBULANCE WESTERN AUSTRALIA LTD

TRANSPORT OFFICERS
ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2017

CONTENTS

1	AGREEMENT TITLE					
2 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES OF THE AGREEMENT						
3	DEF	DEFINITIONS				
4	APPL	APPLICATION OF THE AGREEMENT				
	4.1	Scope	6			
	4.2	Parties to the Agreement	6			
	4.3	Entire Agreement	6			
	4.4	Commencement Date and Term of Agreement	6			
	4.5	Negotiation of replacement Enterprise Agreement	7			
5	INDI	IVIDUAL FLEXIBILITY	7			
	5.1	Individual Flexibility Agreement	7			
	5.2	Compliance	7			
	5.3	Form and content requirements	7			
	5.4	Copy to Employee	8			
	5.5	Termination of Individual Flexibility Agreement	8			
	5.6	Notification to the Union				
6	CON	CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE8				
7	INTE	INTRODUCTION OF CHANGE				
	7.1	Major Change	9			
	7.2	Change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work	10			
8	CON	CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT10				
	8.1	General	10			
	8.2	Probation	11			
9	PRC	PROGRESSION1				
	9.1	Transport Officer Progression	11			
	9.2	Continuing Education Program	11			
10	CAS	CASUAL EMPLOYEE				
11	PAR	PART-TIME12				
12	MUL	MULTI-HIRE ADDITIONAL CASUAL WORK13				
13	MAN	MANAGERS ON ROAD14				
14	JOB SHARE14					
15	INDUSTRIAL CONTRACTS16					

16	RATES OF PAY & ALLOWANCES16			
17	ALLOWANCES			
	17.1	Travel Allowance	16	
	17.2	Travel Allowance Change of rostered station (less than 7 days' notice)	17	
	17.3	Travel Allowance - Travel on Short Notice Overtime (Immediate Call Backs (ICB)		
	17.4	Travel Allowance - Mutual Exchange Duty Cover	18	
	17.5	On Road Tutor Allowance	18	
	17.6	Driver's Licence Reimbursement	18	
	17.7	Overtime Meal Allowance	19	
	17.8	Relief Mental Health Transport Officer Allowance	19	
18	SALA	RY PACKAGING	. 19	
19	HEAL	.TH ASSESSMENTS	. 20	
20	SECO	ONDMENTS	. 20	
21	MEN	TAL HEALTH TRANSPORT OFFICERS	. 21	
22	HOUF	RS OF WORK AND SHIFTS	. 21	
23	SHIF	Γ PENALTIES	. 22	
24	OVEF	RTIME	. 23	
25		SUPERANNUATION		
26		'E ENTITLEMENTS		
	26.1	Annual Leave		
	26.2	Personal/Carer's Leave (sick leave and carer's leave) - General		
	26.3	Personal/Carer's Leave - Paid Personal Leave		
	26.4	Personal/Carer's Leave - Paid Carer's Leave		
	26.5	Personal/Carer's Leave - Unpaid Carer's Leave		
	26.6	Compassionate Leave	28	
	26.7	Public Holidays	28	
	26.8	Long Service Leave - General	28	
	26.9	Long Service Leave - Cashing out	31	
	26.10	Parental Leave	31	
	26.11	Jury Service	32	
	26.12	Court Attendance	32	
	26.13	Rate of Payment for Approved Leave	32	
	26.14	Special Leave	32	
	26.15	Leave Without Pay	34	

27	SALARY CONTINUANCE INSURANCE				
28	WORKERS' COMPENSATION				
29	EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY, DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT				
30	UNION MEMBERSHIP FEES				
31	TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT				
	31.1	Termination without notice	35		
	31.2	Termination with notice by St John	35		
	31.3	Termination by employee	35		
	31.4	Time off During Notice Period	36		
	31.5	Termination by Redundancy	36		
32	DISP	UTE SETTLING PROCEDURE	37		
33	GENERAL				
	33.1	Notice Board	38		
	33.2	Variation	38		
	33.3	Severance	38		
APP	ENDIX	1	40		
APP	ENDIX	2	43		
APP	ENDIX	3	44		

AGREEMENT TITLE

This agreement is to be known as the St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Transport Officers Enterprise Agreement 2017.

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES OF THE AGREEMENT

This Agreement is intended to consolidate on previous initiatives and reflects St John's ongoing commitment to establishing a strong and lasting working relationship with its employees.

As such, the primary objectives of this Agreement are to:

- create and maintain a workplace environment that values and (a) enables employees to achieve their goals:
- (b) maximise the opportunity for St John and its employees to improve training, professionalism, career path progression, efficiency and performance in the provision of ambulance transfer services:
- develop workplace procedures that contribute to delivering the (c) highest standards of productivity and service to its clients and the public;
- (d) provide high standards of workplace safety and equality of employment opportunity; and
- (e) create a workplace free of discrimination, harassment and vilification.

DEFINITIONS

Agreement means this Agreement, known as the St John

Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Transport Officers

Enterprise Agreement 2017.

Allocated Position means an entitlement to a position on a vehicle at a

> metropolitan Station (formerly known

"Permanent Position').

Approved Leave means a period of leave approved and taken in

accordance with this Agreement.

Classification means any one of the classifications set out in

Appendix 1 of this Agreement.

Consultative means the committee established under clause 6.

Committee

CPHC

means College of Pre Hospital Care run by St John.

De Facto Spouse means a person who, although not legally married to

> the employee, lives with the employee in a relationship as a couple on a genuine domestic basis (whether the employee and the person are of the

same sex or different sexes).

Extension Overtime

means time which is worked as an extension of the

employees' rostered shift.

Fair Work

Means the Fair Work Commission as established

under the Fair Work Act.

Fair Work Act

means the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) as amended or

replaced.

Home Station

means the closest station to an employee's home to which they could be rostered to work.

Immediate Family

means:

(a) a Spouse, child, step child, foster child, parent, step-parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the employee; or

(b) a child, parent, step-parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the employee's Spouse.

Leave Entitlement

means leave which is fully accrued and can be taken when approved by St John.

Leave Roster

means a block of leave allocated to each eligible employee by St John.

Ordinary Time

means the base rate of pay plus, where applicable, the excess hours and shift penalties (as per Appendix 1).

Parties

means those parties listed in **clause 4.2** of this Agreement.

Preferred Station

means a Station at which the employee has requested an Allocated Position.

Primary Care Giver

means a person who has principle care of a child such that the person meets the child's physical needs more than anyone else. Only one person can be a child's primary care giver at any one time.

Primary Classification

means a classification within St John that the employee currently holds.

Primary Position

means an employee's permanent position of employment.

Referral List

means a list of healthcare professionals compiled by St John.

Rostered Station

means the Station at which an employee is rostered to work.

Spouse

includes a former spouse, De Facto Spouse or a

former De Facto spouse.

Station means a work location with operational ambulance

vehicles assigned to it within the metropolitan region

(as defined by St John).

St John Means St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd.

Union means United Voice (formerly the Liquor, Hospitality

and Miscellaneous Union).

Weekly Base Rate of

Pay

means the weekly pay calculated from the hourly rate

then multiplied by 38.

4 APPLICATION OF THE AGREEMENT

4.1 Scope

This Agreement covers and applies to:

- (a) St John;
- (b) the Union, subject to sections 53 and 201(2) of the Fair Work Act; and
- (c) the employees employed in the classifications listed in Appendix 1 Rates of Pay.

4.2 Parties to the Agreement

The parties to the Agreement are:

- (a) St John;
- (b) the Union, subject to sections 53 and 201(2) of the Fair Work Act; and
- (c) The employees employed in the classifications covered by this agreement.

4.3 Entire Agreement

This Agreement is the entire agreement between the Parties. The Parties expressly exclude, to the extent permitted by law, any other statutory laws, awards or orders that pertain to the employment relationship between St John and its employees other than the National Employment Standard and laws dealing with long service leave, occupational safety and health, Workers' Compensation and training.

Further, the Parties exclude any protected and/or preserved entitlements and/or conditions as defined by the Fair Work Act including but not limited to entitlements in relation to annual leave, personal/carer's leave, parental leave, long service leave, notice, jury service, superannuation, public holidays, rest breaks (including meal breaks), shift/overtime loadings, annual leave loading, allowances, penalty rates and incentive-based payments and bonuses, except as provided for by this Agreement.

4.4 Commencement Date and Term of Agreement

(a) This Agreement will take effect seven days after Fair Work approves the Agreement.

- (b) The rates of pay in this Agreement will apply from 1 July 2017 as provided in Appendix 1.
- (c) The Agreement will have a nominal expiry date of 3 years from 30 June 2017. Therefore the Agreement will expire on 30 June 2020.
- (d) Once the Agreement passes its nominal expiry date it will continue to operate until terminated or replaced in accordance with the Fair Work Act.

4.5 Negotiation of replacement Enterprise Agreement

The Parties agree to commence negotiations for a replacement Enterprise Agreement at least 6 months prior to the expiry of this Enterprise Agreement.

5 INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBILITY

5.1 Individual Flexibility Agreement

St John and an employee may agree to make an Individual Flexibility Agreement (**IFA**) to vary the effect of terms of this Agreement if:

- (a) the IFA deals with one or more of the following matters;
 - (i) arrangements about when work is performed;
 - (ii) overtime rates;
 - (iii) penalty rates;
 - (iv) allowances; and/or
 - (v) leave loading;
- (b) the IFA meets the genuine needs of St John and the employee in relation to one or more of the matters mentioned above; and
- (c) the IFA is genuinely agreed to by St John and the employee.

5.2 Compliance

St John must ensure that the terms of the IFA:

- (a) are about permitted matters under section 172 of the Fair Work Act;
- (b) are not unlawful terms under section 194 of the Fair Work Act; and
- (c) result in the employee being better off overall than the employee would be if no IFA was made.

5.3 Form and content requirements

St John must ensure that the IFA:

- (a) is in writing;
- (b) includes the name of St John and the employee:
- (c) is signed by St John and the employee and if the employee is under 18 years of age, signed by a parent or guardian of the employee; and
- (d) includes details of:
 - (i) the terms of the Agreement that will be varied by the IFA;
 - (ii) how the IFA will vary the effect of the terms;

- (iii) how the employee will be better off overall in relation to the terms and conditions of his or her employment as a result of the IFA; and
- (iv) states the day on which the IFA commences.

5.4 Copy to Employee

St John must give the employee a copy of the IFA within 14 days after it is agreed to.

5.5 Termination of Individual Flexibility Agreement

St John or the employee may terminate the IFA:

- (a) by giving no more than 28 days' written notice to the other party to the IFA; or
- (b) if St John and the employee agree in writing at any time.

5.6 Notification to the Union

- (a) Where St John offers an individual flexibility arrangement under this Agreement, St John must inform the Union in writing of the intention to enter such arrangement, at least seven days prior to entering into the arrangement.
- (b) When informing the Union under clause 5.6(a) above, St John must:
 - (i) include details of the term(s) of the arrangement;
 - (ii) include the classification of the employee(s) proposed to be subject to the arrangement; and
 - (iii) Personal details of the employee will not be provided.
- (c) For the avoidance of doubt, informing the Union under **clause 5.6(a)** above, does not mean that the Union must approve or consent to the IFA.

6 CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

- (a) St John recognises the need for a Consultative Committee to be formed to discuss, resolve and enhance operational and working environment issues in the workplace.
- (b) The Consultative Committee will be a forum for consultation on issues such as:
 - (i) operational matters;
 - (ii) workload issues;
 - (iii) changes to work organisation and/or work practices occurring in the workplace;
 - (iv) fixed term and casual employment usage;
 - (v) implementation of this Enterprise Agreement.
- (c) The Consultative Committee will comprise of St John or its nominee and employee representatives, provided that the number of employee representatives will be at least equal to the number of employer representatives.

- (d) The Parties will meet and jointly determine the terms of reference and operating procedures of the Consultative Committee.
- (e) The Consultative Committee will convene within 28 days of a written request being received from either St John, an employee representative or the union.
- (f) St John will provide reasonable resourcing to ensure effective and informed employee participation, including access to all relevant information and a reasonable period of time of release to facilitate the consultative process.
- (g) Employee representatives will be paid for attendance at Consultative Committee meetings as if they had worked their normal roster. Employee representatives who attend a Consultative Committee meeting in their own time will be given time off in lieu or be paid single time equal to the meeting time.
- (h) The Parties acknowledge that ultimately decisions will continue to be made by St John to ensure the effective and efficient operation of the organisation in line with its strategic direction and operational needs.
- (i) This clause does not apply to major changes to which **clause 7** applies.

7 INTRODUCTION OF CHANGE

7.1 Major Change

- (a) If St John proposes to make a major change in relation to a matter listed in **clause 7.1(b)** below, that is likely to have a significant effect on employees, St John will, prior to any final decision being made:
 - (i) notify the affected employees of the proposed change;
 - (ii) provide to the affected employees and/or their nominated representative(s), if any, any requested information regarding the change, provided that St John will not be required to disclose any confidential or commercially sensitive information; and
 - (iii) as soon as reasonably practicable, discuss with the affected employees and/or their nominated representative(s), if any, the introduction of the change, including;
 - (A) the likely effect on employees;
 - (B) any measures to avoid or minimise adverse effects on the employees;
 - (C) any general matters raised in relation to the change and specific matters, where requested by the employees; and
 - (D) consider any matters raised by the affected employees and their representative in relation to the change.
- (b) In this clause, a major change is likely to have a significant effect on employees if it results in:
 - (i) the termination of the employment of employees; or

- (ii) major change to the composition, operation or size of the employer's workforce or to the skills required of employees; or
- (iii) the elimination or diminution of job opportunities (including opportunities for promotion or tenure); or
- (iv) the alteration of hours of work; or
- (v) the need to retrain employees; or
- (vi) the need to relocate employees to another workplace; or
- (vii) the restructuring of jobs.
- (c) Nothing in this **clause 7** will prevent St John from implementing the change once it has complied with its obligations under this **clause** 7.
- (d) If St John proposes to make a major change that:
 - (i) does not relate to a matter referred to in **clause 7.1(b)** above; and
 - (ii) will, in the view of St John, significantly affect employees,

St John will, as far as practicable, prior to the final decision being made, comply with the processes referred to in **clauses 7.1(a)(i) - 7.1(a)(iii)** above.

(e) The relevant employees may appoint a representative for the purposes of the procedures in this clause.

7.2 Change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work

- (a) As soon as practicable after proposing to introduce any change to an employee's regular roster or ordinary hours of work, St John will consult with the relevant employee about the change.
- (b) The employee may appoint a representative for the purpose of the consultation.
- (c) St John will:
 - (i) Provide the employee and their representative (if any) with all relevant information about the proposed change;
 - (ii) Invite the employee to give their views about the impact of the change (including any impact in relation to their family or caring responsibilities); and
 - (iii) Consider any views given by the employee and their representative (if any) about the impact of the change.
- (d) St John is not required to disclose confidential or commercially sensitive information to the relevant employee or their representative.

8 CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT

8.1 General

(a) Employees can be employed on a full-time, part-time, fixed-term or casual basis.

(b) An employee will be issued with a letter of appointment at the commencement of their employment and, if required, upon any change in their employment status – outlining their classification, their employment status, any probation period to be served and weekly base rate of pay.

8.2 Probation

- (a) A new employee's employment is subject to a 3 month probationary period.
- (b) It is not intended that the probation period affect any "minimum employment period" as defined in the Fair Work Act.
- (c) St John may, with one week's notice, terminate an employee's employment during the employee's probationary period.

9 PROGRESSION

9.1 Transport Officer Progression

- (a) 'Year of service' in this clause means 12 months service as Transport Officer with St John.
- (b) A Transport Officer in their first year of service with St John will be classified as 1st Year in Appendix 1 of this Agreement.
- (c) At the completion of the 1st year of service, an employee will be appointed to 2nd Year in accordance with Appendix 1 of this Agreement.
- (d) At the completion of the 2nd year of service, an employee will be appointed to 3rd Year in accordance with Appendix 1 of this Agreement.
- (e) At the completion of 4 years of service, an employee will be appointed to 5th Year in accordance with Appendix 1 of this Agreement.
- (f) If an employee's employment terminates with St John and the employee is re-employed by St John within 2 years, the employee will be re-employed at the equivalent classification, as provided in clauses 9.1(a) 9.1(e) above, as he or she was previously employed.
- (g) If an employee's employment terminates with St John and the employee is re-employed by St John more than 2 years later, the employee will be re-employed at a classification as determined by St John.

9.2 Continuing Education Program

- (a) Employees must successfully complete training as required by St John as part of the Continuing Education Program.
- (b) Training will be scheduled by St John and employees will be required to attend a minimum of 4 days over a period of 24 months.
- (c) Where possible training will be scheduled during normal working hours or as otherwise agreed between St John and the employee.

- (d) Training will be tailored to ensure that relevant skills and knowledge are refreshed. To assist in this process, St John Ambulance will seek information from a range of staff and areas, including:
 - (i) Transport Officers;
 - (ii) The CPHC;
 - (iii) Clinical Services Director; and
 - (iv) Ambulance Service Director.
- (e) It is the intention that the training will achieve the following:
 - (i) maintain knowledge and skills to an optimum level;
 - (ii) update staff on new skills and practices;
 - (iii) update staff on Clinical Practice Guidelines and Skill Manual changes; and
 - (iv) give an opportunity for staff to make training suggestions, and discuss any concerns they have in their role.
- (f) Country employees may be required to undertake training as part of the Continuing Education Program at his or her Sub-Centre or in Perth at the discretion of St John.

10 CASUAL EMPLOYEE

- (a) A casual employee will receive 25% casual loading on the hourly rate of the appropriate classification as set out in Appendix 1- Rates of Pay of this Agreement.
- (b) A casual employee will receive a minimum of 3 hours per shift at the hourly rate for the applicable classification.
- (c) Superannuation contributions will be made on the ordinary earnings of the casual employee, including the casual loading.
- (d) A casual employee is not entitled to paid personal/carer's leave, compassionate leave, annual leave, jury duty leave, defence forces leave or public holidays, in accordance with this Agreement.
- (e) Once a year St John at its discretion will review the amount of hours a casual has worked and may move the employee to the next level as outlined in Appendix 1 Rate of Pay.
- (f) Casual employees must complete at least 85 hours work per year plus training as part of the Continuing Education Program and onroad training component appropriate to the needs of each individual.
- (g) Either the casual employee or St John may terminate the employee's employment by giving 1 hours' notice or other notice as agreed. St John may elect to pay the employee 1 hour in lieu of notice.

11 PART-TIME

(a) A part-time employee means an employee who is engaged to regularly work less than full-time ordinary hours.

- (b) Subject to legislative requirements, St John may offer part-time positions to any classification as operationally required.
- (c) St John will provide part-time employees with written confirmation of a regular pattern of work, specifying the following;
 - (i) the hours worked each day, and
 - (ii) which days of the week the employee will work; and
 - (iii) the actual starting and finishing times each day.
- (d) A part-time employee shall receive payment for wages, annual leave, Public Holidays, compassionate leave, personal/carer's leave and long service leave on a pro rata basis.
- (e) Part-time employees will be paid in accordance with the hourly rates of the relevant classification as set out in Appendix 1 of this Agreement.
- (f) The ordinary hours of work for a part-time employee may vary between a minimum of 8.5 hours and a maximum of 76 hours in any fortnight.
- (g) Part-time employees will not be required to work on a Public Holiday that falls on a day they normally would have been rostered to work, nor will there be any reduction in pay for that day.
- (h) Part-time employees shall be paid overtime at the rate of double time as follows;
 - (i) in excess of 76 hours per pay fortnight; and
 - (ii) when working Extension Overtime; and
 - (iii) when working Immediate Call Back overtime.
- (i) If a part-time employee works additional hours, which is not Extension Overtime or Immediate Call Back overtime, up to 76 hours in a fortnight, they will be paid at ordinary time and will accrue leave.
- (j) Travel allowance will be paid in accordance with **clauses 17.1**, **17.2** and **17.3** of this Agreement.

12 MULTI-HIRE ADDITIONAL CASUAL WORK

- (a) An employee, who is engaged to work in a primary classification, may with agreement from St John work on a casual basis within a different classification (secondary classification) at times when they are not rostered to work in their primary position, provided the employee is capable of performing the alternative duties (multi-hire arrangement).
- (b) An employee shall only be engaged in a secondary classification:
 - (i) at times when the employee is not rostered to work in their primary position; and
 - (ii) at times when the employee is not, or will not be required to work overtime in their primary classification, as provided for in this Agreement;

- (c) An employee who is engaged in a multi-hire arrangement is entitled to a minimum break of 8 hours between shifts.
- (d) St John will determine whether the employee is to work in a multihire arrangement, and when the employee may work.
- (e) A multi-hire arrangement will give rise to a separate contract of employment with the employee being engaged and paid as a casual.
- (f) The rate of pay for multi-hire will be the appropriate casual rate for the position engaged.
- (g) While engaged in a multi-hire arrangement as a casual employee, **clause 10** of this Agreement will apply.
- (h) The multi-hire arrangement is not designed to avoid paying overtime rates in the employee's primary position.
- (i) The multi-hire arrangement is voluntary, therefore when an employee requests to work a shift other than in their primary position they will be paid the applicable casual rate. If St John directs an employee to work in any other classification other than the employee's primary classification this will not give rise to a multi-hire arrangement.

13 MANAGERS ON ROAD

- (a) The Parties acknowledge the desirability of Managers to maintain his or her "on-road" skills.
- (b) Subject to **clause 13(d)** below, with the approval of St John, any employee may work with a manager as part of an operational crew. The manager must be qualified as an Ambulance Transport Officer and can work on any shift or roster as agreed between St John and the employee.
- (c) Any person performing work in accordance with this clause is not working in a secondary classification under **clause 12** of this Agreement.
- (d) An employee may only work with a manager on-road as part of an operational crew on a voluntary basis.
- (e) No employee will be displaced from the operational crew where the manager is working on-road, without agreement.
- (f) Employees will only work with managers who have completed at least 84 hours work per year plus training as part of the Continuing Education Program and on-road training component appropriate to the needs of each individual.

14 JOB SHARE

- (a) In line with organisational needs St John, will not unreasonably refuse 2 employees to job share 1 equivalent full-time position subject to the following:
 - (i) any legislative requirements, all Transport Officers classifications may be job shared;

- (ii) only 1 job share employee in a pair may hold an Allocated Position, that allocated position will remain with the original employee who holds the allocation:
- (iii) each job sharing employee will work a 50% share of a full time Monday to Friday roster;
- (iv) each employee will be paid 50% of the ordinary time earnings and relevant allowances of the full-time equivalent position;
- (v) each employee applying to work in a job sharing arrangement must arrange their own job share partner;
- (vi) each employee applying to work in a job sharing arrangement must submit a written application to St John at the same time for consideration:
- (vii) the same annual leave block will be allocated by St John to both job share employees. However, St John may approve different leave periods upon request from the employee(s);
- (viii) annual leave, long service leave and personal/carer's leave will accrue at a pro-rata rate of the full-time equivalent position;
- (ix) With the approval of St John and at the initiative of an individual job share employee or a job share pair, 1 job share employee or a job share pair may be seconded into other work duties;
- (x) if a job share employee is absent due to personal leave, that employee shall receive his/her current rate of pay;
- (xi) if 1 job share employee is absent from work for less than 16 weeks for any reason the remaining partner will continue on job share pay, conditions, shift and individual roster patterns;
- (xii) any job share employee or pair with an allocated position may be rostered away from his/her allocated position for up to a total of 16 weeks in any calendar year; and
 - (A) subject to **clause 14(d)**, should 1 job share employee end the job share arrangement, the remaining job share employee may continue on job share pay and conditions until he or she finds another approved job share partner.
 - (B) If a replacement partner is not found within 8 weeks, the remaining job share employee may be rostered with another single job share employee or as a spare on any shift.
- (b) St John will facilitate job share partner-matching by maintaining and making available to all employees a database of employees interested in job sharing and their preferred geographic area.
- (c) Travel allowance will apply in accordance with the terms outlined in **clause 17** this Agreement. For the purpose of travel allowance, the one Allocated Position will apply to both employees.
- (d) If an employee is without a job share partner for more than 16 weeks for any reason;
 - (i) the remaining employee without a partner may be rostered as a spare officer for a combined time exceeding 16 weeks in any calendar year, where operationally required; or

- (ii) St John is able to roster that employee with another single job share employee, to work on another shift or roster; or
- (iii) the remaining employee may make a written request to work full-time to cover their partner's absence. If approved by St John, the additional hours will be paid at ordinary time.
- (e) Individual shift patterns will be agreed between the job sharing pair and approved by St John, however if the pair is unable to agree, St John will allocate the individual shift patterns.
- (f) Job share employees shall be paid ordinary time when working any hours in addition to the ordinary job share hours up to full time hours and will accrue appropriate leave.
- (g) Extension overtime worked at the completion of an employee's rostered shift and Immediate Call Back overtime will be paid at double time.
- (h) If an employee intends to terminate or vary a job sharing arrangement, 4 weeks' notice must be provided to St John.

15 INDUSTRIAL CONTRACTS

Employees may be appointed from time to time to work in classifications outside of this Agreement on Industrial Contracts on industrial sites. During such appointment periods, employees may also work in classifications covered by this Agreement and whilst working on road will be paid in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

16 RATES OF PAY & ALLOWANCES

- (a) Employees will be paid the rates of pay as set out in Appendix 1 Rates of Pay of this Agreement.
- (b) Employees will be paid on a fortnightly basis and will be paid by means of electronic transfer into an employee's nominated bank account.
- (c) Allowances within this Agreement will be increased in accordance with Appendix 2, unless specifically excluded.

17 ALLOWANCES

17.1 Travel Allowance

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, an employee is entitled to travel allowance when:
 - (i) attending Continuing Education Programme courses as approved by St John; or
 - (ii) rostered to work away from his or her Home Station or Preferred Station and receives a minimum of 7 days' notice.
- (b) An employee is not entitled to travel allowance when:
 - (i) working with an on-road tutor;
 - (ii) working at his or her Allocated Position;
 - (iii) rostered to work at a Preferred Station:

- (iv) rostered to work at their Home Station;
- (v) the employee has given a written request to work at a station, including but not limited to, CPHC Secondments; and
- (vi) attending training for promotional purposes.
- (c) Travel allowance is paid at the rate in Appendix 2 of this Agreement for all forms of travel, subject to:
 - (i) the distances set out in the Distance Matrix;
 - (ii) the distance calculated by the return trip distance in kilometres, from the employee's Home Station to the Rostered Station and then subtract 20 kilometres.
- (d) If an employee has 1 or more Preferred Stations, travel allowance will not be paid when rostered to any of those Preferred Stations.
- (e) If an employee is directed with at least 2 hours' notice before the beginning of the shift, to report to another station, that employee must proceed to that station in their own transport and will be paid applicable travel allowances.

17.2 Travel Allowance Change of rostered station (less than 7 days' notice)

- (a) In addition to the provisions of **clause 17.1** above, when less than 7 calendar days' notice of change of current Rostered Station is given and excess travel is involved the employee (including employees working with an on-road tutor) shall be paid:
 - (i) a daily allowance in accordance with Appendix 2 of this Agreement or part thereof for each kilometre travelled in excess of the employee's current Rostered Station; and
 - (ii) excess travelling time at the employee's ordinary rate of pay calculated at 1 minute per kilometre travelled in both directions.
- (b) Travelling distance and time will only be payable for 7 days, from the first shift whilst the Rostered Station is changed, after which the travel allowance provision of **clause 17.1** of this Agreement will apply.
- (c) Clauses 17.2(a) and 17.2(b) above do not apply to:
 - (i) a part-time employee; or
 - (ii) a job share employee without a partner for more than 16 weeks pursuant to **clause 14(d)** of this Agreement.

17.3 Travel Allowance - Travel on Short Notice Overtime (Immediate Call Backs (ICB)

- (a) If St John requires an employee to work an overtime shift with less than 90 minutes notice the employee will be entitled to travel time of 1 hour at overtime rates in addition to actual time worked.
- (b) This entitlement will only apply once during any 3 hour minimum call out period for which the employee is paid under **clause 24(c)** of this Agreement.
- (c) In addition to **clause 17.3(a)** above, a travel allowance in accordance with Appendix 2 of this Agreement calculated from home residence to the work location and return, by the shortest road journey may be claimed.

17.4 Travel Allowance - Mutual Exchange Duty Cover

- (a) An employee who is standing in for another employee, is entitled to travel allowance as outlined in **clause 17.1** of this Agreement, subject to:
 - (i) the criteria in clause 17.1(b) 17.1(e) being applicable; and
 - (ii) the allowance paid will not be greater than the allowance to which the replaced employee would have received.

17.5 On Road Tutor Allowance

- (a) Newly appointed Ambulance Transport Officers, who have not previously completed St John operational Ambulance hours, will be required to complete their first shifts of on road duties under the guidance of an experienced Ambulance Transport Officer. The number of required shifts will be:
 - (i) 10 shifts where two newly appointed Ambulance Transport Officers are working together with an experienced Ambulance Transport Officer; or
 - (ii) 15 shifts where one newly appointed Ambulance Transport Officer is working one-on-one with an experienced Ambulance Transport Officer; or
 - (iii) A combination of (i) and (ii) above to a minimum of 10 and a maximum of 15 shifts as determined by St John.
- (b) Newly appointed Ambulance Transport Officers, who have previously completed St John operational Ambulance hours, will be required to complete their first 2 shifts of on road duties under the guidance of an experienced Ambulance Transport Officer.
- (c) If a newly appointed Ambulance Transport Officer is not able to be signed off as competent after completing the shifts required in either clause 17.1(a)17.5(a) or 17.1(b)17.5(b), they will be provided additional shifts under the guidance of an experienced Ambulance Transport Officer at the discretion of St John.
- (d) During this period the newly appointed Ambulance Transport Officer will be required to complete a log book which must be countersigned at the end of each shift by the experienced employee with whom they are working.
- (e) Experienced Ambulance Transport Officers will be paid an allowance in accordance with Appendix 2 of this Agreement for carrying out these duties.

17.6 Driver's Licence Reimbursement

- (a) Where an employee is required for the purpose of employment to hold a driver's licence, the fee paid will be reimbursed to the employee on presentation of a receipt covering the current licensed period.
- (b) Where the licensed period is greater than a year and the employee's employment concludes prior to the license expiring, St John may deduct and retain from any final monies owing to the employee any reimbursed monies for the remaining period of the licence.

17.7 Overtime Meal Allowance

- (a) Subject to the provisions of this clause, an employee who is required to work overtime after the usual ceasing time (Extension Overtime) for more than 1 hour shall be supplied with a meal by St John or be paid in accordance with Appendix 2 of this Agreement for a meal.
- (b) Where the amount of Extension Overtime worked necessitates more than 1 meal, St John Ambulance shall supply each such additional meal or pay to the employee the amount prescribed in accordance with Appendix 2 of this Agreement for each such additional meal. The employee shall be entitled to the additional meal or meal allowance after each 4 hours.
- (c) For the purpose of clause 17.7(a) and 17.7(b), the continuity of work shall not be deemed to have been interrupted by any meal break allowed.
- (d) This clause does not apply in respect of any period of overtime where the employee has been notified on the previous day or earlier that he or she will be required.
- (e) If an employee has been given notice, as referred to in **clause** 17.7(d) above, and as a consequence of the notification provided a meal or meals, and is subsequently not required to work overtime or is required to work less overtime than notified, the employee shall be paid the allowance for each meal provided and not required
- (f) This clause only applies to Extension Overtime.

17.8 Relief Mental Health Transport Officer Allowance

- (a) An Ambulance Transport Officer who is qualified to work as a Mental Health Transport Officer may work from time to time as a Relief Mental Health Transport Officer.
- (b) When working as a Relief Mental Health Transport Officer, the employee will receive the Relief Mental Health Transport Officer Allowance in accordance with Appendix 2.

18 SALARY PACKAGING

- (a) An employee may, with the agreement of St John, enter into a salary packaging arrangement.
- (b) The salary packaging arrangement must:
 - (i) be in writing and signed by the employee and St John;
 - (ii) be cost neutral in relation to the total cost to St John; and
 - (iii) comply with relevant taxation laws.
- (c) St John is not liable for any additional tax, penalties or other costs payable or which may become payable during the arrangement. The employee will be liable to pay for any such additional costs.
- (d) If there is an increase or additional payments of tax, penalties or costs associated with the employment of the employee or the

provision of employee benefits under the salary packaging arrangement, the employee:

- (i) is liable for any such additional tax, penalties and/or costs; and
- (ii) may terminate the salary packaging arrangement in line with any conditions contained in a separate written agreement with St John.
- (e) For the purposes of this clause, any penalty rate, loading, employer superannuation contribution, termination calculations or other wage related allowances which would ordinarily be calculated on the basis of the wage rates expressed in Appendix 1 Rates of Pay, shall continue to be so calculated despite an election to participate in any salary packaging arrangement.

19 HEALTH ASSESSMENTS

- (a) St John may require, at its own cost, an employee to undergo a health assessment:
 - (i) as a condition of employment;
 - (ii) to evaluate an employee's fitness for work; or
 - (iii) to evaluate an employee's ability to return to work after an extended period of illness or injury.
- (b) Where a health assessment is a condition of employment, such assessment must be conducted before the conclusion of the probationary period.
- (c) The health assessment must be conducted by a healthcare professional who has been nominated by the employee from a choice of 2 healthcare professionals selected by St John from the Referral List.
- (d) The employee agrees to sign a consent form authorising the healthcare professional to release any information from the Health Assessment to St John.
- (e) An employee may:
 - (i) request a copy of the healthcare professional's report(s) and St John shall ensure that any such documentation is provided to the employee;
 - (ii) consult a healthcare professional of their own choice for a second opinion at their own expense or from the Referral List at St John's expense; and
 - (iii) appeal a decision made by St John that is based on information provided by the St John nominated healthcare professional. Such appeal must be made to the relevant Director for a review of the decision.

20 SECONDMENTS

(a) St John may second Transport Officers to perform alternate roles, as required and in agreement with the employee.

- (b) Seconded employees will work a modified roster of an average of 42.5 hours per week as determined by St John, or their normal hours
- (c) Where St John requires additional days worked beyond the normal roster, employees shall be entitled to days off in lieu on a 1 for 1 basis.
- (d) Secondment opportunities will have a specified tenure and the employee will return to their usual Transport Officer classification when the secondment ends.
- (e) Notwithstanding **clause 20(d)** St John may cease a secondment in the event the employee is unable to fulfil the role to St John's satisfaction. The employee will then return to their substantive position, unless the secondment has ended as a result of serious misconduct, in which case the employee's employment may be terminated.
- (f) Employees seconded to alternate roles will receive a rate of pay as appropriate to the role undertaken, but not less than their usual Transport Officer classification hourly base rate of pay.
- (g) All secondments will have the terms, including the roster that will be worked, set out in writing to the employee prior to acceptance of the secondment.

21 MENTAL HEALTH TRANSPORT OFFICERS

- (a) The provisions of this clause apply only to employees performing work as a Mental Health Transport Officer and override any inconsistent provisions contained in other clauses of this Agreement. Mental Health Transport Officers undertake duties in accordance with the *Mental Health Act 2014* or as directed by St John.
- (b) A Mental Health Transport Officer will work a rotating roster of 3 shifts of 11 hours and 1 shift of 10.5 hours followed by 4 days off as detailed in Appendix 3 of this Agreement.
- (c) Mental Health Transport Officers will work an average of 38 ordinary hours and 0.625 reasonable additional hours per week across an 8 week roster cycle.
- (d) Mental Health Transport Officers will be paid in accordance with Appendix 1 Rates of Pay of this Agreement.
- (e) The Excess Hours Penalty set out in Appendix 1 of this Agreement includes payment for the overtime hours which the Employee regularly works as part of their rostered hours and a nominal payment for up to 5 hours additional overtime per rostered set of eight days at overtime rates.

22 HOURS OF WORK AND SHIFTS

(a) Full-time Transport Officers will be required to work an average of 42.5 hours per week Monday to Friday. Weekly hours comprise of 38 ordinary hours and 4.5 reasonable additional hours.

- (i) In compensation for reasonable additional hours worked, Transport Officers will be entitled to:
 - A. 2 weeks' additional leave per year, to be taken in accordance with the leave roster; and
 - B. an excess hours penalty which is payable as a flat amount per week as provided in Appendix 1.
- (b) A Transport Officer may work the following rosters;
 - (i) 5 shifts of 8.5 hours worked Monday Friday between the hours 0500 and 0100; or
 - (ii) 3 shifts of 10.5 hours and 1 shift of 11 hours worked Monday Friday between the hours 0500-0100 which is provided on a trial basis and subject to operational requirements; or
 - (iii) 2 shifts of 8.5 hours each on Weekends Only (Part Time).
- (c) An employee whilst in induction training will be paid the appropriate weekly base rate of pay.
- (d) Employees will be allocated a 30 minute paid break during the shift with the following conditions:
 - (i) The meal break cannot be taken within the first two or last two hours of the shift; and
 - (ii) Breaks will commence immediately when allocated and end at 30 minutes; and
 - (iii) The break may be interrupted to meet urgent operational needs; and
 - (iv) No penalties or Special Leave shall apply in the event the meal break is interrupted, not taken or not allocated due to urgent operational needs.

23 SHIFT PENALTIES

- (a) Ordinary hours worked on a Saturday are paid at the rate of time and one half for all hours worked.
- (b) Ordinary hours Sunday are paid at the rate of time and three quarters for all hours worked.
- (c) The overtime provisions of this Agreement continue to apply.
- (d) All hours worked, or part thereof, Monday to Friday, between 1800 and 0600 will be paid a 15% loading, excluding:
 - (i) 4.5 hours of reasonable additional time per week for Full time Transport Officers which is compensated by an excess hours penalty and additional leave as set out in **clause 22(a)(i)** at the Overtime rate and therefore shift penalties will only apply to hours worked between 1800 and 0600 in excess of 4.5 hours per week.

24 OVERTIME

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any work performed outside the ordinary hours prescribed in **clause** 2222 or clause 21 of this Agreement, will be deemed overtime and will be paid at the rate of double time
- (b) In the calculation of overtime each day shall stand alone.
- (c) An employee recalled for duty outside normal rostered hours will be paid at overtime rates for a minimum of 3 hours.
- (d) Where overtime is necessary it will, wherever reasonably practicable, be arranged so that the employee will have at least 9 consecutive hours off work between shifts.
- (e) Where an employee, at the direction of St John, works overtime where the employee will not receive 9 consecutive hours off duty between the completion of a rostered shift and the commencement of the next rostered shift the employee will:
 - (i) be released from duty until the employee has had 9 consecutive hours off duty without loss of pay; or
 - (ii) if directed by St John to resume work without 9 hours off duty be paid at double time until released from duty; and
 - (iii) will be entitled to be absent until the employee has had 9 consecutive hours off duty without loss of pay.

25 SUPERANNUATION

- (a) St John will contribute on behalf of each employee in accordance with the requirements of the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 (Cth), the Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992 (Cth), and the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (Cth).
- (b) The employee may nominate a complying fund or scheme and may only change their choice of fund once every calendar year.
- (c) If the employee does not nominate a fund or scheme, contributions shall be paid into a default fund until a fund is nominated.
- (d) Employees may make additional contributions after 3 months of employment. The employee must give to St John written authorisation as required by St John.
- (e) St John will contribute an additional 1.5% of the Employee's gross ordinary time earnings if an Employee has successfully completed their probationary period and contributes at least 5% of gross ordinary time earnings to their superannuation fund.
- (f) Contributions will be made in relation to paid leave in accordance with this Agreement.
- (g) Contributions will not be made in respect of periods of unpaid leave.
- (h) If an eligible employee is absent from work due to work related injury or illness, and is receiving payments pursuant to Workers' Compensation legislation, contributions in accordance with this clause will continue. Contributions will continue for the period of the

- absence up to a maximum of 52 weeks total absence for injury or illness.
- (i) Subject to legislation, contributions will not be made in respect of periods of unpaid parental leave or in respect of parental leave taken under the Government's Paid Parental Leave Scheme (under the PPL Act).

26 LEAVE ENTITLEMENTS

26.1 Annual Leave

- (a) Transport Officers (other than casual employees) are entitled to:
 - (i) annual leave (or pro rata), subject to **clause 26.1(d)**, of 4 weeks per year;
 - (ii) 2 weeks' additional leave, as prescribed in clause 22(a)(i)(A) of this Agreement.
- (b) Mental Health Transport Officers (other than casual employees) are entitled to:
 - (i) Annual leave (or pro rata), subject to **clause 26.1(c)**, of 4 weeks per year;
 - (ii) If the employee is a shift employee and is regularly required to work Sundays and public holidays, an additional 1 week annual leave in lieu of regularly worked Sundays and public holidays for the purposes of the National Employment Standards; and
 - (iii) 1 week additional leave.
- (c) Annual leave/additional leave accrues progressively and accumulates year to year.
- (d) Employees are not entitled to accrue annual leave during any periods of unauthorised leave, leave without pay (including while on salary continuance), unpaid parental leave (including periods covered by the Paid Parental Leave Scheme other than the paid parental leave period of 12 weeks as provided by St John in clause 26.10(b)), or periods of approved Workers' Compensation.
- (e) Annual leave/Additional Leave will be taken in accordance with the Leave Roster, unless otherwise agreed between St John and the employee.
- (f) St John will as far as practicable attempt to accommodate requests for changes to leave, including requests for leave to be taken in periods of not less than 1 day.
- (g) When an employee takes annual leave set out in clause 26.1(a)(i) or clause 26.1(b)(i) above, the employee will be paid:
 - (i) a loading of 17.5 % calculated on the employee's weekly base rate of pay; or
 - (ii) where applicable, excess hours and shift penalties (as per Appendix 1),

whichever is the greater for annual leave taken.

- (h) When an employee takes additional leave as set out in **clause 26.1(a)(ii)**, **clause 26.1(b)(ii)** or **clause 26.1(b)(iii)** above, the employee will be paid, where applicable, the excess hours and shift penalties (as per Appendix 1).
- (i) Any accrued annual leave/additional leave which has not been taken will be paid to the employee upon termination of employment, including, where applicable, leave loading or excess hours and shift penalties (as per Appendix 1).
- (j) if a Public Holiday falls on a day the employee is on annual leave/additional leave the employee will not be deducted annual leave/additional leave for that day.

26.2 Personal/Carer's Leave (sick leave and carer's leave) - General

(a) Employees are entitled to personal/carer's leave per year, as set out in the table below:

Employee	Personal/Carer's Leave entitlement (in paid hours) per year	Number of hours deducted per shift from entitlement
Transport Officers' working a Monday to Friday Roster of 5 shifts of 8.5 hours per week	76 (85 shift hours, 2 shift rotations)	7.6
Transport Officers working a Monday to Friday Roster of 3 shifts of 10.5 hours and 1 shift of 11 hours per week	95 (106.25 shift hours, 2.5 shift rotations)	9.5
Mental Health Transport Officers working a Rotating Roster of 4 days on 4 days off	95.16 (95.16 average shift hours, 2.5 rotations)	9.5
Transport Officers' working a Weekend Roster	34 (34 shift hours, 2 shift rotations)	8.5

Monday to Friday (5 shifts/ 85/42.5 x 38 = 76.00 pay week)

Monday to Friday (4 shifts/ 106.25/42.5 x 38 = 95.00 pay week)

Mental Health Transport Officer 95.16/38.0625x38 = 95.00 pay hours $34/17 \times 17 = \frac{34.00}{\text{hours}}$

- (b) Personal/carer's leave is paid at Ordinary Time.
- (c) All new employees, will have available to them the first 2 years paid personal/carer's leave in advance of it accruing as an entitlement.
- (d) Employees are not entitled to accrue personal/carers' leave during any periods of unauthorised leave, leave without pay (including while on salary continuance), unpaid parental leave (including periods covered by the Paid Parental Leave Scheme other than the paid parental leave period of 12 weeks as provided by St John in clause 25.10(b)), or periods of approved Workers' Compensation.
- (e) St John at its discretion may allow an employee to take paid personal leave which has not been accrued. If this occurs, the employee's entitlement will be negative until the personal leave already taken has accrued over time.
- (f) On termination of employment, St John may reconcile any outstanding amount of personal/carer's leave taken in advance against the employee's entitlements on termination.
- (g) After the first 2 years of employment, and subject to **clause 26.2(e)** above, personal/carer's leave accrues progressively and accumulates from year to year.
- (h) Personal/carer's leave is not paid out on termination of employment.
- (i) St John may require an employee and the employee must provide satisfactory documentary evidence, in relation to a period of personal leave. The employee must provide to St John a medical certificate from a registered health practitioner. If it is not reasonably practicable to provide a medical certificate, the employee may provide a statutory declaration, which sets out the reasons for the employee's absence from work and the estimated duration of the employee's incapacity.
- (j) Employees will not be required to provide any evidence/certification for paid personal/carer's leave for up to 2 calendar days in any calendar year.
- (k) St John may require the employee to undergo any medical examination by a St John appointed medical practitioner to establish the nature of the employee's illness and an opinion on the duration of the illness.

26.3 Personal/Carer's Leave - Paid Personal Leave

(a) Personal leave may be taken by an employee because of personal illness, or injury.

- (b) If the employee seeks to take personal leave, the employee is required to notify St John of his or her absence as soon as reasonably practicable. It is preferred that the employee notify St John, for operational reasons:
 - (i) at least 2 hours prior to his or her shift, if it is a Day Shift; or
 - (ii) at least 4 hours prior to his or her shift, if it is a Night Shift.
- (c) If an employee has exhausted his or her entitlement to paid personal/carer's leave, the employee may apply to take annual leave or additional leave, be on unpaid personal leave, or agree another form of leave with St John.
- (d) If an employee is injured at work and the employee has accrued personal/carer's leave, the employee will be paid personal leave until their Workers' Compensation claim is approved, at which stage the employee's personal/carer's leave will be re-credited to the extent of the approved Workers' Compensation.
- (e) Clause 26.3(b) above will not apply where it is not reasonably practicable for the employee to give such notice.

26.4 Personal/Carer's Leave - Paid Carer's Leave

- (a) Carer's leave may be taken by an employee to provide care or support to a member of the employee's Immediate Family or household because that person is ill or injured or is affected by an unexpected emergency.
- (b) If the employee seeks to take paid carer's leave, the employee is required to:
 - (i) notify St John of his or her absence as soon as reasonably practicable. It is preferred that the employee notify St John, for operational reasons, at least 2 hours prior to his or her shift, if it is a Day Shift, and at least 4 hours prior to his or her shift, if it is a Night Shift;
 - (ii) provide details of the relationship with the person requiring care; and
 - (iii) advise St John of the estimated length of absence.

26.5 Personal/Carer's Leave - Unpaid Carer's Leave

- (a) If an employee has used all his or her accrued paid personal/carer's leave entitlements, the employee is entitled to 2 days unpaid carer's leave on each occasion the employee provides care or support to a member of his or her Immediate Family or household because that person is ill or injured or is affected by an unexpected emergency. An employee cannot take unpaid carer's leave if the employee has accrued personal/carer's leave.
- (b) The employee must notify St John of his or her absence as soon as reasonably practicable. It is preferred that the employee notifies St John, for operational reasons:
 - (i) at least 2 hours prior to his or her shift, if it is a Day Shift; and
 - (ii) at least 4 hours prior to his or her shift, if it is a Night Shift.

26.6 Compassionate Leave

- (a) An employee is entitled to compassionate leave not exceeding the number of hours worked by the employee in 4 ordinary days of work, on each occasion, a member of the employee's Immediate Family or household:
 - (i) dies; or
 - (ii) suffers a personal injury or illness that poses a serious threat to his or her life.
- (b) The employee must give St John any evidence that it reasonably requires.
- (c) The employee should give notice to St John as soon as reasonably practicable of the intention to take leave.

26.7 Public Holidays

- (a) Each employee is entitled to the Public Holidays proclaimed in Western Australia. However, if a Mental Health Transport Officer is scheduled to work on a public holiday, the Parties and the employee agree that the employee will work the shift.
- (b) Payment for any work performed on a Public Holiday will be at a rate of double time and a half for all hours worked on a public holiday.
- (c) If a part time employee is not rostered to work on a Public Holiday, that employee will not be paid for the Public Holiday.
- (d) Where a Public Holiday falls on a day in which an employee is on annual leave, the employee will not have any annual leave deducted for the Public Holiday.

26.8 Long Service Leave - General

- (a) Subject to the additional provisions of this clause, the provisions of the *Long Service Leave Act 1958* (WA) will apply to each employee.
- (b) Employees are not entitled to accrue long service leave during any periods of:
 - (i) unauthorised leave;
 - (ii) leave without pay (including while on Salary Continuance); or
 - (iii) parental leave (including periods covered by the Paid Parental Leave Scheme other than the paid parental leave period of 12 weeks as provided by St John in clause 26.10(b)).
- (c) Each employee is entitled to paid long service leave at ordinary time on the following basis:
 - (i) at the completion of 10 years' of continuous service 13 weeks;
 - (ii) at the completion of each subsequent 7 years' of continuous service 13 weeks.
- (d) Further to **clause 26.8(c)** above, an employee will receive:
 - (i) a pro rata long service leave payment if the employee is:
 - (A) at least 55 years old; and

- (B) resigns; and
- (C) has completed at least 12 months continuous service with St John; or
- (ii) a pro rata long service leave payment to the executor of the relevant estate if the employee:
 - (A) dies; and
- (B) completed between 12 months and less than 3 years continuous service with St John; or
- (iii) a pro rata long service leave payment if the employee:
- (A) has completed at least 12 months continuous service with St John; and
- (B) the employees employment is ended by St John on the account t of ill health, or as a result of an accident; or
- (iv) a pro rata long service leave payment if the employee;
- (A) has completed at least 3 year continuous service with St John; and
- (B) resigns to enter an Invitro Fertilisation programme provided she provides written confirmation from the appropriate medical authority of the dates of the involvement in the programme; or
- (v) a pro rata long service leave payment, if:
- (A) the employee's employment is terminated by his or her death or is terminated by St John for any reason other than for serious misconduct; and
- (B) the employee has completed as least 3 years' continuous employment with St John but less than 10 years' service; or
- (vi) a pro rata long service leave payment, in respect of the number of years of completed service since the employee last became entitled to leave under clause 26.8(c) of this Agreement.
- (e) A part-time employee is entitled to pro rata long service leave. If the hours of a part-time employee have varied, payment shall be at the rate based on the average number of hours worked over the full qualifying period.
- (f) A part-time employee who, during the qualifying period, has been continuously employed on both part-time and full-time employment, will be paid at a rate determined by the proportion of the service on a part-time basis to that on a full-time basis.
- (g) The long service leave prescribed in this clause may, by agreement between St John and the employee, be taken in more than 1 portion provided that no portion shall be less than 4 consecutive weeks.
- (h) An employee is not entitled to long service leave with respect to any service for which St John and the employee has agreed in writing to receive additional remuneration to compensate in lieu of long service leave, in accordance with **clause 26.9** of this Agreement.

- (i) Any period during long service leave for which paid personal/carer's leave has been approved shall be given as additional long service at a time convenient to St John.
- (j) For the purpose of long service leave, "service" means service as an employee of St John and shall be deemed to include:
 - (i) absences on annual leave, long service leave or public holidays;
 - (ii) absences on paid personal/carer's leave;
 - (iii) periods on an approved rostered days off;
 - (iv) absences on approved unpaid personal leave except that portion of a continuous absence which exceeds 3 months;
 - absences on approved unpaid leave, other than unpaid personal leave, but not exceeding 2 weeks in any qualifying period;
 - (vi) absences on National Service or other military service/training, but only if the employee, as soon as reasonably practicable after the completion of any such service, resumes employment with St John;
 - (vii) absences on workers' compensation for any period not exceeding 6 months.
- (k) Subject to **clause 26.8(j)**, service shall not be deemed to have been broken if the employment is ended by St John for any reason other than misconduct and;
 - (i) if the employee resumes employment with St John no later than 6 months from the day on which the employment was ended; and
 - (ii) payment for pro rata long service leave has not been made
- (I) The service of an employee shall be deemed NOT to include any other absence of the employee except as provided in **clause 26.8(j)** above.
- (m) Long service leave shall be taken at a time convenient to St John but not less than 30 days' notice shall be given to each employee of the day on which the long service leave is to commence, except in cases where the employee and St John agree to a lesser period of notice, or in other exceptional circumstances.
- (n) Long service leave must be taken within 6 months of becoming due unless agreed otherwise between the employee and St John.
- (o) Except for shift employees, if a public holiday falls on a day during an employee's absence on long service leave, the employee's absence shall be extended by an additional day.
- (p) An employee cannot undertake any form of employment for hire or reward, while on long service leave.
- (q) Except as otherwise provided for in this Agreement, any long service leave that the employee has become entitled to under clause 26.8(c) or 26.8(d) of this Agreement, that has not been taken, is payable upon termination of employment.

- (r) If an employee works continuously for at least 12 months in a higher classification than he or she was originally employed, and takes long service leave no later than 2 weeks after finishing in the higher classification, the employee is to be paid at the higher classification rate of pay.
- (s) Where St John requires employees to submit to health assessments and where following such assessment St John terminates the employment of an employee the employee shall be entitled to payment for credits accrued for long service leave.

26.9 Long Service Leave - Cashing out

- (a) An employee may cash out Long Service Leave, with the agreement of St John, and subject to the following conditions:
 - (i) the employee is given an equivalent benefit in lieu of the entitlement; and
 - (ii) St John will determine the amount of sufficient leave credits that are required to remain for the employee to access in the future; and
 - (iii) St John will assess requests against staffing levels at the time; and
 - (iv) each employee can only make 1 claim per financial year; and
 - (v) the agreement is in writing.

26.10 Parental Leave

- (a) Subject to this clause, each employee is entitled to parental leave in accordance with the Fair Work Act and the *Paid Parental Leave Act* 2010 (Cth) (**PPL Act**). Parental leave includes paid leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and adoption leave.
- (b) Employees (except casual employees) who are the Primary Care Giver are entitled to 12 weeks' paid parental leave at the weekly base rate of pay, subject to:
 - (i) the employee completing and providing all appropriate documentation;
 - (ii) if immediately before the date of adoption or expected date of birth of the child the employee has, or will have, completed at least 12 months continuous service with St John; and
 - (iii) where the employee receives paid parental leave under the PPL Act, and the sum of 12 weeks' pay at the employee's weekly base rate of pay is higher than the employee's entitlement under the PPL Act, St John will only pay to the employee a top up of the monetary difference between the two amounts.
- (c) The entitlement to paid parental leave and unpaid parental leave will be concurrent.
- (d) St John will not unreasonably refuse any application for extended unpaid parental leave.
- (e) Employees (except casual employees) who are not, or will not be, the Primary Care Giver for a child will be entitled to leave of 8 calendar days off work without loss of pay subject to the following;

- (i) the leave must commence within 21 days of the birth or adoption of the child;
- (ii) the employee must provide as much notice as possible; and
- (iii) the employee must complete and provide all appropriate documentation.

26.11 Jury Service

- (a) An employee required to attend for jury service during working hours will be paid by St John an amount equal to the difference between the amount paid in respect of the attendance for such jury service and the amount the employee would have earned in respect of the employee's scheduled working hours had the employee been at work.
- (b) The employee shall notify St John as soon as possible of the date upon which the employee is required to attend for jury service.
- (c) The employee shall provide St John with proof of attendance on jury service, the duration of such attendance and the amount received in respect of such duty.

26.12 Court Attendance

- (a) If an employee is summoned to give evidence in a Court, Tribunal or Commission, the employee must inform St John as soon as possible of the employee's requirement to attend.
- (b) The employee must comply with any reasonable request from St John to provide any evidence of the requirement to attend.
- (c) If the proceedings are not work related, St John will release the summoned employee for the required period on unpaid leave, special leave or other leave as agreed with St John.
- (d) If the proceedings are work related, St John will release the summoned employee for the required period and will continue to pay the employee at ordinary time, including necessary travel time, while in attendance.
- (e) If the proceedings are work related, and the employee is not rostered to work, St John will pay the summoned employee overtime for the period required in court.
- (f) The employee shall provide St John with proof of attendance and the duration of such attendance.

26.13 Rate of Payment for Approved Leave

- (a) If an employee qualifies for leave in accordance with this Agreement, the employee will be paid at the rate of pay they receive immediately before the period the employee's absence begins.
- (b) If an employee's rate of pay increases during a period of leave, as referred to in Appendix 1 of this Agreement, the employee will receive the increased applicable rate of pay from the applicable time.

26.14 Special Leave

(a) Special leave is paid leave which may be granted by St John subject to operational requirements.

- (b) An employee can apply for special leave up to 3 months in advance provided that any such application is made by completing the appropriate documentation.
- (c) An employee will not be granted special leave if he or she has, or will have, more than 42.5 hours owing to St John.
- (d) While on special leave, the employee will continue to be paid ordinary time.
- (e) The time taken on special leave will be:
 - (i) in lieu of extra hours worked by the employee in advance (**Time Accrued in Advance**); or
 - (ii) paid back by the employee by either:
 - (A) working shifts in addition to their normal roster, at a time after the special leave; or
 - (B) paying an equivalent amount to St John as a cash payment; or
 - (iii) debited against the employee's accrued annual leave entitlement before the employee next proceeds on rostered annual leave. If an employee owes St John special leave hours, St John may at its discretion pay only 50% of an employee's overtime with the other 50% reducing the amount of owed hours.
- (f) If an employee does not have Time Accrued in Advance of taking special leave, St John and the employee must agree to one of the payback provisions (or a combination) as set out in **clause 26.14(e)(ii)** above before special leave is taken.
- (g) If an employee's employment is terminated before the employee has paid back any outstanding special leave, the employee authorises St John to deduct and retain monies equal to the value of the number of hours outstanding from any final monies owed to the employee.
- (h) An employee may accumulate Time Accrued in Advance by working up to a maximum of 42.5 hours. The employee must advise St John in writing that they wish to accrue such time in advance to be taken as special leave.
- (i) If an employee has accumulated 42.5 hours Time Accrued in Advance, they may be granted an additional 42.5 hours to be paid back to St John as per clause 26.14(e)(ii).
- (j) Any accrued time which has not been taken as special leave will be paid out on termination of the employee's employment.
- (k) Special leave will not be granted during the Christmas Period (24-31 December), New Years Eve, New Years Day, Australia Day, and the Easter Period (Good Friday to Easter Monday) or any other public holidays which have been proclaimed in Western Australia.
- (I) Special leave can only be cancelled if at least 24 hours written notice is given through the special leave form.

26.15 Leave Without Pay

- (a) A written application may be made to St John for leave without pay, which may be granted at the discretion of St John.
- (b) LWOP applications will include consideration of all other applicable leave entitlements.
- (c) LWOP applications may be applicable for, but not limited to:
 - (i) Emergency Service Leave;
 - (ii) Cultural and Ceremonial Leave and;
 - (iii) Domestic / Family Violence Leave.

27 SALARY CONTINUANCE INSURANCE

- (a) St John will take out a collective salary continuance policy on behalf of the employees, provided that St John will only be required to pay a maximum of 1.7% of the collective sum of Ordinary Time earnings of all employees covered by this Agreement. St John will communicate to the employees any changes to the benefits provided under the policy as soon as practicable.
- (b) Employees are entitled to Salary Continuance Insurance in their substantive role, at the rate of that substantive role.
- (c) Casual employees are not entitled to Salary Continuance Insurance.

28 WORKERS' COMPENSATION

All employees are covered by the Workers' Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA).

29 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY, DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT

St John is committed to conducting its business in a way which ensures fair, equitable and non-discriminatory employment and operational practices and equal opportunity for all.

30 UNION MEMBERSHIP FEES

- (a) Employees may authorise St John in writing to deduct union membership fees from the employee's wages or salary before payment is made to the employee.
- (b) Where written authority is provided by the employee, St John will deduct such fees and remit them to the Union at fortnightly intervals.
- (c) Any written authority under **clause 30(a)** must specify the amount to be deducted and the Union to which deductions should be paid.
- (d) Employees may withdraw such authorisation at any time by way of written notice to St John.

31 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

31.1 Termination without notice

St John may terminate an employee's employment without notice for serious misconduct.

31.2 Termination with notice by St John

(a) St John may terminate an employee's employment at any time by giving the applicable period of notice as set out in the table below:

The employee's period of continuous service with St John	Period of Notice
Not more than 1 year	At least 1 week
More than 1 year but not more than 3 years	At least 2 weeks
More than 3 years but not more than 5 years	At least 3 weeks
More than 5 years	At least 4 weeks

- (b) If the employee is over 45 years of age with 2 or more years' of continuous service with St John and St John terminates his or her employment, St John will give the employee an additional 1 week's notice.
- (c) St John may terminate an employee's employment by:
 - (i) making a payment in lieu of notice; or
 - (ii) by giving part of the notice period set out in this clause and by making part payment in lieu of the balance of the notice period.
- (d) The amount of payment in lieu of notice must equal or exceed the total of all amounts that, if the employee's employment had continued until the end of the required period of notice, St John would have become liable to pay to the employee because of the employment continuing during that period. The total must be worked out on the basis of:
 - (i) the employee's ordinary hours of work (even if they are not standard hours); and
 - (ii) the amounts payable to the employee in respect of those hours including allowances, loadings and penalties; and
 - (iii) any other amounts payable under the employee's contract or employment.

31.3 Termination by employee

- (a) The notice of termination required to be given by an employee shall be 7 days.
- (b) St John and the employee may mutually agree to change the period of notice.

- (c) If an employee fails to give St John the proper notice, St John may deduct and retain monies equal to the value of the number of days for which notice was not given.
- (d) The period of notice specified in this clause does not apply to casual or fixed-term employment.

31.4 Time off During Notice Period

(a) If St John has given an employee notice of termination and the employee has completed at least 1 month's continuous service, the employee will be entitled to take time off work up to a maximum of 8 hours without deduction of pay, for the purpose of gaining other employment. The time off shall be taken at times agreed between St John and the employee.

31.5 Termination by Redundancy

(a) An employee, whose employment is terminated by reason of redundancy, is entitled to the following amount of severance pay in respect of a period of continuous service:

Period of Continuous Service	Severance Pay
less than 1 year	Nil
1 year and less than 2 years	4 weeks' pay
2 years and less than 3 years	6 weeks' pay
3 years and less than 4 years	7 weeks' pay
4 years and less than 5 years	8 weeks' pay
5 years and less than 6 years	10 weeks' pay
6 years and less than 7 years	11 weeks' pay
7 years and less than 8 years	13 weeks' pay
8 years and less than 9 years	14 weeks' pay
9 years and less than 10 years	16 weeks' pay
10 years and over	12 weeks' pay

- (b) Provided that the severance payments shall not exceed the amount to which the employee would have earned if employment with St John had proceeded to the employee's normal retirement date.
- (c) **Week's pay** means the ordinary time rate of pay for the employee concerned, provided that such rate shall exclude:
 - (i) overtime;
 - (ii) penalty rate; and
 - (iii) allowances.

32 DISPUTE SETTLING PROCEDURE

Subject to this clause, any dispute relating to the National Employment Standards or any grievance, dispute or matter which is raised by St John, an employee or group of employees, except disputes relating to the termination of an employee's employment or disciplinary procedures, will be settled according to the following procedure:

- (a) The complainant will document the dispute in writing and it will then be discussed between the employee(s) and the relevant supervisor in an attempt to resolve it.
- (b) If the dispute is not resolved as outlined in **clause 32(a)** above within 5 week days of being raised with the relevant supervisor, the dispute will be referred to the relevant line manager, who will attempt to resolve it.
- (c) If the dispute is not resolved as outlined in **clause 32(b)** above within 5 week days of being raised with the relevant line manager, the dispute will be referred to the Chief Executive Officer or his/her nominee, who will attempt to resolve it.
- (d) If the dispute is not resolved as outlined in **clause 32(c)** above within 5 week days of being raised with the Chief Executive Officer or his/her nominee, and the dispute relates to a matter arising under this Enterprise Agreement or relating to the National Employment Standards, any party to the dispute may refer it to Fair Work.
- (e) Fair Work may deal with the dispute in 2 stages:
 - (i) Fair Work will first attempt to resolve the dispute as it considers appropriate, including by mediation, conciliation, expressing an opinion or making a recommendation; and
 - (ii) if Fair Work is unable to resolve the dispute at the first stage, Fair Work may then:
 - (A) arbitrate the dispute; and
 - (B) make a determination that is binding on the parties.
- (f) The parties to the dispute will abide by the decision of Fair Work subject to any party to the dispute exercising a right of appeal against the decision in accordance with the Fair Work Act.
- (g) The period for resolving a dispute may be extended by agreement between the parties.
- (h) At all stages of the procedure set out above, either party may appoint or be accompanied by a representative of their choice.
- (i) While the dispute is being dealt with, or while any conciliation or arbitration is progressing, the employee(s) concerned will continue to work in accordance with this Agreement.

33 GENERAL

33.1 Notice Board

- (a) St John will provide a notice board of reasonable dimension to be erected in a prominent position in each work location.
- (b) A copy of this Agreement will be permitted to be posted on the notice board unless a copy of the Agreement is available to all employees on St John's intranet.

33.2 Variation

This Agreement may only be varied in accordance with the Fair Work Act.

33.3 Severance

If a term of this Agreement offends any statute or rule of law that would render it void, voidable or unenforceable, that term will be severed from the rest of the Agreement without affecting the remainder of the Agreement.

EXECUTED BY THE PARTIES AS AN ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT on the understanding that it be registered under the *Fair Work Act 2009* (Cth).

SIGNED on behalf and with the authority of St John by:

Signature of the Authorised Person:	
Name in Full:	ANTHONY SMITH
Position:	D/CE0
Address:	209 GREAT EASTERN HWY BEZMONIT WA 6104
	BERMONT WA 6104
On this date:	12/12/2017
SIGNED on behalf and with the authority of	
United Voice by:	
Signature of the Authorised Person:	Caroly Smith
Name in Full:	Carolyn Smith
Position:	WA Branch Secretary
Address:	64 Cheniton St Perth WA 6000
On this date:	11/12/2017

APPENDIX 1

St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Rates of Pay - Ambulance Transport Officer Enterprise Agreement 2017

First phase of three increments (1.5%) effective from 1 July 2017 Mon - Fri Base Rate Excess Hours						
Mon - Fri between 0600 & 1800	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty		Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,042.72	\$27.44	\$121.00	-	\$1,163.72	\$60,707.43
2nd Year	\$1,054.88	\$27.76	\$122.41	-	\$1,177.29	\$61,415.33
3rd Year	\$1,065.52	\$28.04	\$123.65	-	\$1,189.17	\$62,035.07
5th Year	\$1,086.42	\$28.59	\$126.07	-	\$1,212.49	\$63,251.60
CPHC Trainer	\$1,394.98	\$36.71	\$161.88	-	\$1,556.86	\$81,216.25
Mon - Fri 1600 to 0030	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Night Shift Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,042.72	\$27.44	\$121.00	\$115.25	\$1,278.97	\$66,719.64
2nd Year	\$1,054.88	\$27.76	\$122.41	\$116.59	\$1,293.88	\$67,497.45
3rd Year	\$1,065.52	\$28.04	\$123.65	\$117.77	\$1,306.94	\$68,178.64
5th Year	\$1,086.42	\$28.59	\$126.07	\$120.08	\$1,332.57	\$69,515.95
Mon - Fri 1630 to 0100	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Night Shift Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,042.72	\$27.44	\$121.00	\$125.54	\$1,289.26	\$67,256.55
2nd Year	\$1,054.88	\$27.76	\$122.41	\$127.00	\$1,304.29	\$68,040.68
3rd Year	\$1,065.52	\$28.04	\$123.65	\$128.28	\$1,317.45	\$68,726.91
5th Year	\$1,086.42	\$28.59	\$126.07	\$130.80	\$1,343.29	\$70,075.18
Mon - Fri	Base Rate	Ψ20.33	Excess Hours	Night Shift	ψ1,545.23	Ψ10,013.10
1300 to 2130	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,042.72	\$27.44	\$121.00	\$53.51	\$1,217.23	\$63,498.99
2nd Year	\$1,054.88	\$27.76	\$122.41	\$54.13	\$1,231.42	\$64,239.29
3rd Year	\$1,065.52	\$28.04	\$123.65	\$54.68	\$1,243.85	\$64,887.44
5th Year	\$1,086.42	\$28.59	\$126.07	\$55.75	\$1,268.24	\$66,160.07
Mon - Fri 1400 to 2230	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Night Shift Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1400 to 2230	\$1,042.72	\$27.44	\$121.00	\$74.09	-	•
2nd Year	\$1,054.88	\$27.76	\$121.00	\$74.09 \$74.95	\$1,237.81 \$1,252.24	\$64,572.58 \$65,325.40
3rd Year	\$1,054.88	\$28.04	\$123.65	\$74.95 \$75.71	\$1,252.24 \$1,264.88	\$65,984.51
5th Year	\$1,086.42	\$28.59	\$125.05	\$77.19	\$1,204.66 \$1,289.68	\$67,278.52
Mon - Fri	Base Rate	\$20.00	Excess Hours	Night Shift	¥1,200.00	ψ01,210.02
1000 to 1830	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,042.72	\$27.44	\$121.00	\$0.00	\$1,163.72	\$60,707.55
2nd Year	\$1,054.88	\$27.76	\$122.41	\$0.00	\$1,177.29	\$61,415.50
3rd Year	\$1,065.52	\$28.04	\$123.65	\$0.00	\$1,189.17	\$62,034.97
5th Year	\$1,086.42	\$28.59	\$126.07	\$0.00	\$1,212.49	\$63,251.78
Mon - Fri	Base Rate		Excess Hours	Night Shift		
1100 to 1930	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,042.72	\$27.44	\$121.00	\$12.35	\$1,176.07	\$61,351.80
2nd Year	\$1,054.88	\$27.76	\$122.41	\$12.49	\$1,189.78	\$62,067.07
3rd Year	\$1,065.52	\$28.04	\$123.65	\$12.62	\$1,201.79	\$62,693.31
5th Year	\$1,086.42	\$28.59	\$126.07	\$12.87	\$1,225.36	\$63,923.16
Mon - Fri	Base Rate	Hourty Date	Excess Hours	Night Shift	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1200 to 2030	Weekly	Hourly Rate \$27.44	Penalty	Penalty \$32.93	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,042.72	-	\$121.00		\$1,196.65	\$62,425.39
2nd Year	\$1,054.88	\$27.76	\$122.41	\$33.31	\$1,210.60	\$63,153.18
3rd Year	\$1,065.52 \$1,086.42	\$28.04	\$123.65 \$126.07		\$1,222.82 \$1,246.80	\$63,790.38 \$65,041.61
5th Year Weekends	Base Rate	\$28.59	\$126.07	\$34.31	Φ1,240.60	\$00,041.01
only	Weekly	Hourly Rate		Weekend Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$466.48	\$27.44	-	\$291.55	\$758.03	\$39,543.92
2nd Year	\$471.92	\$27.76	-	\$294.95	\$766.87	\$40,005.08
3rd Year	\$476.68	\$28.04	-	\$297.93	\$774.61	\$40,408.85
5th Year	\$486.03	\$28.59	_	\$303.77	\$789.80	\$41,201.26
Mental Health Transport Officer	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Weekend and Night Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
MHTO	\$1,103.14	\$29.03	\$200.93	\$240.86	\$1,544.93	\$80,593.90
milio	ψ1,103.14	φ23.03	φ200.93	ΨΖ40.00	ψ1,044.93	Ψου,υσο.90

Shift Loading Night 15% Saturday 50% Sunday 75% Casual employees incur 25% loading

St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Rates of Pay - Ambulance Transport Officer

	Enterprise Agreement 2017					
	Second pl	•	_	ive from 1 July 2018	3	
Mon - Fri between 0600 & 1800	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	-	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,058.30	\$27.85	\$122.81	-	\$1,181.11	\$61,614.61
2nd Year	\$1,070.84	\$28.18	\$124.27	-	\$1,195.11	\$62,344.94
3rd Year	\$1,081.48	\$28.46	\$125.50	-	\$1,206.98	\$62,964.16
5th Year	\$1,102.76	\$29.02	\$127.97	-	\$1,230.73	\$64,203.12
CPHC Trainer	\$1,415.88	\$37.26	\$164.31	-	\$1,580.19	\$82,433.30
Mon - Fri 1600 to 0030	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Night Shift Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,058.30	\$27.85	\$122.81	\$116.97	\$1,298.08	\$67,716.55
2nd Year	\$1,070.84	\$28.18	\$124.27	\$118.36	\$1,313.47	\$68,519.40
3rd Year	\$1,081.48	\$28.46	\$125.50	\$119.53	\$1,326.51	\$69,199.65
5th Year	\$1,102.76	\$29.02	\$127.97	\$121.88	\$1,352.61	\$70,561.20
Mon - Fri 1630 to 0100	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Night Shift Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,058.30	\$27.85	\$122.81	\$127.41	\$1,308.52	\$68,261.17
2nd Year	\$1,070.84	\$28.18	\$124.27	\$128.92	\$1,324.03	\$69,070.28
3rd Year	\$1,081.48	\$28.46	\$125.50	\$130.20	\$1,337.18	\$69,756.27
5th Year	\$1,102.76	\$29.02	\$127.97	\$132.77	\$1,363.50	\$71,129.30
Mon - Fri	Base Rate	V =0.12	Excess Hours	Night Shift	V 1,000.00	** 1,120101
1300 to 2130	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,058.30	\$27.85	\$122.81	\$54.31	\$1,235.42	\$64,447.78
2nd Year	\$1,070.84	\$28.18	\$124.27	\$54.95	\$1,250.06	\$65,211.51
3rd Year	\$1,081.48	\$28.46	\$125.50	\$55.50	\$1,262.48	\$65,859.42
5th Year Mon - Fri	\$1,102.76 Base Rate	\$29.02	\$127.97 Excess Hours	\$56.59	\$1,287.32	\$67,155.24
1400 to 2230	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Night Shift Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,058.30	\$27.85	\$122.81	\$75.20	\$1,256.31	\$65,537.55
2nd Year	\$1,070.84	\$28.18	\$124.27	\$76.09	\$1,271.20	\$66,314.31
3rd Year	\$1,081.48	\$28.46	\$125.50	\$76.84	\$1,283.82	\$66,972.65
5th Year	\$1,102.76	\$29.02	\$127.97	\$78.35	\$1,309.08	\$68,290.38
Mon - Fri 1000 to 1830	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Night Shift Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,058.30	\$27.85	\$122.81	\$0.00	\$1,181.11	\$61,614.61
2nd Year	\$1,070.84	\$28.18	\$124.27	\$0.00	\$1,195.11	\$62,344.94
3rd Year	\$1,081.48	\$28.46	\$125.50	\$0.00	\$1,206.98	\$62,964.16
5th Year	\$1,102.76	\$29.02	\$127.97	\$0.00	\$1,230.73	\$64,203.12
Mon - Fri 1100 to 1930	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Night Shift Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,058.30	\$27.85	\$122.81	\$12.53	\$1,193.64	\$62,268.26
2nd Year	\$1,070.84	\$28.18	\$124.27	\$12.68	\$1,207.79	\$63,006.42
3rd Year	\$1,081.48	\$28.46	\$125.50		\$1,219.79	\$63,632.42
5th Year	\$1,102.76	\$29.02	\$127.97	\$13.06	\$1,243.79	\$64,884.42
Mon - Fri	Base Rate		Excess Hours	Night Shift		
1200 to 2030	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,058.30	\$27.85	\$122.81	\$33.42	\$1,214.53	\$63,358.02
2nd Year	\$1,070.84	\$28.18	\$124.27		\$1,228.93	\$64,109.22
3rd Year	\$1,081.48	\$28.46	\$125.50	\$34.15	\$1,241.13	\$64,745.66
5th Year Weekends	\$1,102.76 Base Rate	\$29.02	\$127.97	\$34.82	\$1,265.55	\$66,019.57
only	Weekly	Hourly Rate		Weekend Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$473.45	\$27.85	-	\$295.91	\$769.36	\$40,134.97
2nd Year	\$479.06	\$28.18	-	\$299.41	\$778.47	\$40,610.21
3rd Year	\$483.82	\$28.46	-	\$302.39	\$786.21	\$41,013.98
5th Year	\$493.34	\$29.02	-	\$308.34	\$801.68	\$41,821.00
Mental Health Transport Officer	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Excess Hours Penalty	Weekend and Night Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
мнто	\$1,119.86	\$29.47	\$203.97	\$244.51	\$1,568.34	\$81,815.12
						. ,

Shift Loading Night 15%

\$29.47 Saturday 50% Sunday 75%

Casual employees incur 25% loading

St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Rates of Pay - Ambulance Transport Officer Enterprise Agreement 2017

Third phase of three increments (1.75%) effective from 1 July 2019

Mon - Fri		ase of three increm	ents (1.75%) effecti Excess Hours	ive from 1 July 2019		
between 0600 & 1800	Base Rate Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty		Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,076.92	\$28.34	\$124.97	-	\$1,201.89	\$62,698.64
2nd Year	\$1,089.46	\$28.67	\$126.43	-	\$1,215.89	\$63,428.97
3rd Year	\$1,100.48	\$28.96	\$127.70	-	\$1,228.18	\$64,070.10
5th Year	\$1,122.14	\$29.53	\$130.22	-	\$1,252.36	\$65,331.49
CPHC Trainer	\$1,440.58	\$37.91	\$167.17	-	\$1,607.75	\$83,871.01
Mon - Fri	Base Rate		Excess Hours	Night Shift		
1600 to 0030	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,076.92	\$28.34	\$124.97	\$119.03	\$1,320.92	\$68,908.04
2nd Year	\$1,089.46	\$28.67	\$126.43	\$120.41	\$1,336.30	\$69,710.36
3rd Year	\$1,100.48	\$28.96	\$127.70	\$121.63	\$1,349.81	\$70,415.13
5th Year Mon - Fri	\$1,122.14 Base Rate	\$29.53	\$130.22 Excess Hours	\$124.03 Night Shift	\$1,376.39	\$71,801.72
1630 to 0100	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,076.92	\$28.34	\$124.97	\$129.66	\$1,331.55	\$69,462.57
2nd Year	\$1,089.46	\$28.67	\$126.43		\$1,347.06	\$70,271.67
3rd Year	\$1,100.48	\$28.96	\$127.70	\$132.49	\$1,360.67	\$70,981.66
5th Year	\$1,122.14	\$29.53	\$130.22	\$135.10	\$1,387.46	\$72,379.21
Mon - Fri	Base Rate	, ————	Excess Hours	Night Shift	+ -1	**= =*==
1300 to 2130	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,076.92	\$28.34	\$124.97	\$55.26	\$1,257.15	\$65,581.37
2nd Year	\$1,089.46	\$28.67	\$126.43	\$55.91	\$1,271.80	\$66,345.61
3rd Year	\$1,100.48	\$28.96	\$127.70	\$56.47	\$1,284.65	\$67,015.95
5th Year	\$1,122.14	\$29.53	\$130.22	\$57.58	\$1,309.94	\$68,335.25
Mon - Fri	Base Rate		Excess Hours	Night Shift		
1400 to 2230	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,076.92	\$28.34	\$124.97	\$76.52	\$1,278.41	\$66,690.43
2nd Year	\$1,089.46	\$28.67	\$126.43		\$1,293.30	\$67,467.19
3rd Year	\$1,100.48	\$28.96	\$127.70	\$78.19	\$1,306.37	\$68,149.01
5th Year Mon - Fri	\$1,122.14 Base Rate	\$29.53	\$130.22 Excess Hours	\$79.73 Night Shift	\$1,332.09	\$69,490.74
1000 to 1830	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,076.92	\$28.34	\$124.97	\$0.00	\$1,201.89	\$62,698.64
2nd Year	\$1,089.46	\$28.67	\$126.43	\$0.00	\$1,215.89	\$63,428.97
3rd Year	\$1,100.48	\$28.96	\$127.70	\$0.00	\$1,228.18	\$64,070.10
5th Year	\$1,122.14	\$29.53	\$130.22	\$0.00	\$1,252.36	\$65,331.49
Mon - Fri	Base Rate		Excess Hours	Night Shift	,	
1100 to 1930	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,076.92	\$28.34	\$124.97	\$12.75	\$1,214.64	\$63,363.76
2nd Year	\$1,089.46	\$28.67	\$126.43	l .	\$1,228.79	\$64,101.92
3rd Year	\$1,100.48	\$28.96	\$127.70	\$13.03	\$1,241.21	\$64,749.83
5th Year	\$1,122.14	\$29.53	\$130.22		\$1,265.65	\$66,024.78
Mon - Fri	Base Rate	Hourly Data	Excess Hours	Night Shift	Total Woolshi	Total Annualis
1200 to 2030	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$1,076.92	\$28.34	\$124.97 \$126.43	\$34.01	\$1,235.90	\$64,472.82
2nd Year	\$1,089.46	\$28.67			\$1,250.29	\$65,223.50 \$65,000.00
3rd Year 5th Year	\$1,100.48 \$1,122.14	\$28.96 \$29.53	\$127.70	\$34.75	\$1,262.93 \$1,287.80	\$65,882.89 \$67,490.39
Weekends	Base Rate	\$29.53	\$130.22	\$35.44	\$1,287.80	\$67,180.28
only	Weekly	Hourly Rate		Weekend Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
1st Year	\$481.78	\$28.34	-	\$301.11	\$782.89	\$40,840.79
2nd Year	\$487.39	\$28.67	_	\$304.62	\$792.01	\$41,316.55
3rd Year	\$492.32	\$28.96	_	\$307.70	\$800.02	\$41,734.40
5th Year	\$502.01	\$29.53	_	\$313.76	\$815.77	\$42,556.03
Mental Health Transport	Base Rate	,	Excess Hours	Weekend and		, ,_,_,
Officer	Weekly	Hourly Rate	Penalty	Night Penalty	Total Weekly	Total Annually
MHTO	\$1,139.62	\$29.99	\$207.57	\$248.82	\$1,596.01	\$83,258.57

Shift Loading

Night 15%

Saturday 50%

Sunday 75% Casual employees incur 25% loading

APPENDIX 2

St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd

Allowances - Transport Officers

First Increase - 01/07/2017

Second Increase - 01/07/2018

Third Increase - 01/07/2019

Description of Allowance	First Increase	Second Increase	Third Increase	Payment
	1.5%	1.5%	1.75%	
Relief Mental Health Transport Officer Allowance	\$6.56	\$6.66	\$6.78	per hour
On Road Tutor Allowance	\$17.66	\$17.93	\$18.24	per day
Overtime Meals Allowance	\$14.76	\$14.98	\$15.24	per meal
Travel Allowance	\$0.78	\$0.79	\$0.81	per km

APPENDIX 3

Mental Health Transport Officer Initial roster and ordinary hours

Rotating roster over 8 week period

Week	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun
1	А	А	Α	В			
2		А	Α	Α	В		
3			А	А	А	В	
4				А	А	А	В
5					А	А	А
6	В					А	А
7	А	В					А
8	А	А	В				

A Shift

Hours of work: 1030 to 2200 hours

Total hours worked: 11 hours (plus 30 minute unpaid meal break)

B Shift

Hours of work: 1100 to 2200 hours

Total hours worked: 10.5 hours (plus 30 minute unpaid meal break)

Ordinary hours worked per week

Week	Ordinary hours	Reasonable additional hours	Total hours
1	38	5.5	43.5
2	38	5.5	43.5
3	38	5.5	43.5
4	38	5.5	43.5
5	32.5	0	32.5
6	32.5	0	32.5
7	32.5	0	32.5
8	32.5	0	32.5

IN THE FAIR WORK COMMISSION

FWC Matter No.: AG2017/6305

Applicant:

St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd

Section 185 – Application for approval of a single enterprise agreement

Undertaking-Section 190

I, Rene Anderson, Employee Relations Manager for St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd give the following undertakings with respect to the St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd Transport Officers Enterprise Agreement 2017 ("the Agreement"):

- 1. I have the authority given to me by St John Ambulance Western Australia Ltd to provide this undertaking in relation to the application before the Fair Work Commission.
- 2. St John undertakes to ensure employees will receive redundancy payments no less than what is provided for in Section 119 of the Fair Work Act 2009.
- 3. St John undertakes to ensure that the Personal Leave provided as per clause 26.2 (a) will be no less than that provided for in the NES.
- 4. These undertakings are provided on the basis of issues raised by the Fair Work Commission in the application before the Fair Work Commission.

Signature

Date